IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 08-1213

PAUL BEASLEY JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,  
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERRI L. BACKHUS  
Backhus & Izakowitz, P.A.  
Florida Bar No. 0946427  
13014 N. Dale Mabry  
#746  
Tampa, FL 33618  
(813) 269-7604

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## INTRODUCTION

Central to this appeal is the United States Supreme Court decision in Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668 (2004). There, the Supreme Court held: “When police or prosecutors conceal significant exculpatory or impeaching material in the State’s possession, it is ordinarily incumbent on the State to set the record straight.” Id. at 675-76. Thus, a rule “declaring ‘prosecutor may hide, defendant must seek,’ is not tenable in a system constitutionally bound to accord defendants due process.” Id. at 696. Under Banks, the burden is on the State to “set the record straight,” not upon the defense to intuit that the State is holding information back or misrepresenting facts.<sup>1</sup>

Here, the State presented the testimony of James Smith, a jailhouse informant, to counter Mr. Johnson’s insanity defense. Mr. Smith testified that Mr. Johnson told him that he “could play crazy” in order to beat the charges. At the 1988 trial, Mr. Smith was adamant that he did not question Mr. Johnson on behalf of the State or at law enforcement’s request. Smith claimed that the notes he made of his alleged talks with Mr. Johnson were his own idea. Nobody suggested he should memorialize the conversations. Mr. Smith also swore that he did not

---

<sup>1</sup>In Banks, the Supreme Court found that in the facts of that case “[t]hrough direct appeal and state collateral review proceedings, the State continued to hold secret the key witnesses’ links to the police and allowed their false statements to stand uncorrected.” Id. at 675.

receive or expect to receive any consideration from the State for his testimony.

In 1997, Mr. Smith testified that his trial testimony was false. He was specifically told by law enforcement in 1981 to question Mr. Johnson and gather evidence for the State to use in its prosecution. Mr. Smith testified that in 1981 he was told what questions to ask Mr. Johnson. Mr. Smith also testified that in 1981 he understood that he had a deal with the State and would receive consideration for his testimony.

In 1997, the State presented Hardy Pickard, the original prosecutor from 1981, to testify that Mr. Smith's post-conviction testimony was not true. According to Mr. Pickard, Mr. Smith was acting on his own when he spoke to Mr. Johnson and decided to make notes of his conversations. There was no deal with Mr. Smith, and that Mr. Smith's testimony at Mr. Johnson's trial was true.

What the State did not reveal at the time of trial or at the 1997 hearing on Mr. Johnson's first Rule 3.851 motion was that Mr. Pickard wrote contemporaneous handwritten notes in 1981 regarding law enforcement's contact with Mr. Smith. These notes corroborate Mr. Smith's 1997 version of the facts and contradict Mr. Pickard's 1997 testimony that Mr. Smith acted alone.<sup>2</sup> These handwritten notes show that Mr. Smith was a State agent with the express assignment to question Mr. Johnson. Smith was told what to ask and to make notes of Mr. Johnson's answers.

---

<sup>2</sup>For example, one notation referencing Investigator Ben Wilkerson with the sheriff's office provided: "Ben - Smith had already talked to Johnson - Told Smith to make notes - Told [Smith] to keep ears open" (Def. Ex. 2).

At no time prior to the 2007 evidentiary hearing did the State ever “set the record straight” as required by Banks. Due process was violated when Mr. Johnson stood trial and again when the State failed to “set the record straight” in collateral proceedings. The State misled the presiding judge at the 1997 evidentiary hearing into believing Smith’s claim that he was sent in and instructed to keep his ears open and make notes of Mr. Johnson’s statements was false when it was true.<sup>3</sup>

The State’s failure to set the record straight in 1997 resulted in the rejection of Smith’s admission that his trial testimony had been false. The State’s failure to set the record straight served as the basis for the denial of Mr. Johnson’s motion to vacate. The State’s failure to honor its constitutional duty cannot be viewed as harmless beyond a reasonable doubt to the extent that it is a clear violation of due process. The State’s failure to advise Mr. Johnson’s counsel that Mr. Pickard knew that law enforcement instructed

---

<sup>3</sup>After reviewing his handwritten notes, Mr. Pickard testified on December 4, 2007, “I’m sure [Mr. Smith] was told to listen, to take notes if he had an opportunity to take notes as to anything that Mr. Johnson said. He may have been even told to turn over the notes” (2PC-R. 1908).

Smith to keep his ears open and to take notes violated Brady and undermines confidence in the reliability of the decision to deny collateral relief. However, it is viewed - as Giglio error or as Brady error - the 1997 order finding Smith incredible and denying collateral relief cannot stand.

In light of its inherent unreliability under Banks, Mr. Johnson's conviction and sentence of death are inconsistent with the principles embodied in the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Collateral relief is required.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

The Eighth Judicial Circuit Court in Alachua County, Florida entered the judgments of convictions and sentences under consideration. Venue was changed from Polk County to Alachua County before the third trial in 1988. During post-conviction proceedings, venue was moved back to Polk County.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of a post-conviction motion after an evidentiary hearing. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" - record on direct appeal to this Court;

"R2" - record on second direct appeal to this Court;

"PC-R" - record on appeal of denial of first Rule 3.850



Mr. Johnson was arrested on January 9, 1981 (2PC-R. 173). On January 23, 1981, Mr. Johnson was charged by Indictment in Case No. 81-0112A1-XX. The indictment was reissued on March 6, 1981, and again on April 17, 1981. The indictment included three counts of first-degree murder, two counts of robbery, kidnapping, arson and two counts of attempted first-degree murder. During the 1981 proceedings, the Polk County State Attorney's Office represented the State. Hardy Pickard was assigned by the Polk County State Attorney's Office to be the trial prosecutor. Mr. Johnson pled not guilty.

A motion to suppress was filed by the defense, seeking to exclude statements that James Smith claimed that Mr. Johnson made while they were incarcerated together. In this motion, Mr. Johnson argued that Mr. Smith acted as a state agent in speaking to Mr. Johnson without providing Miranda warnings and without

---

motion;

"2PC-R" - record on appeal of denial of this second Rule 3.850 motion;

"ER" - volume of evidence introduced in 2007 on the second Rule 3.850 motion and paginated separately from the record.

honoring Mr. Johnson's invocation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

At the suppression hearing, Mr. Smith acknowledged that in October, 1980 he had acted as informant for Investigator Ben Wilkerson with the Polk County Sheriff's Department (R. 1906). As an informant, Mr. Smith wore a wire so that his conversations could be monitored (R. 1907). In November, 1980, Mr. Smith was placed in the Polk County jail (R. 1907). While he was in the jail, Wilkerson visited Mr. Smith to "discuss[ ] some things" (R. 1907). Sometime later, Mr. Smith sought out Mr. Johnson.<sup>5</sup> Mr. Smith notified a detective with the sheriff's department within "a couple of days" of his first conversation with Mr. Johnson (R. 1908). Wilkerson then met with Mr. Smith (R. 1909). Mr. Smith testified that during the meeting with Wilkerson, they discussed the possibility of Mr. Smith talking with Mr. Johnson

---

<sup>5</sup>Mr. Johnson was arrested on January 9, 1981 (R. 1926). His initial appearance was on January 10, 1981 (R. 2142). At that time, the public defender was appointed to represent Mr. Johnson. On January 23, 1981, an indictment issued against Mr. Johnson (R. 2147). A second indictment issued on March 6, 1981 (2PC-R. 5). A third indictment issued on April 17, 1981 (2PC-R. 176).

more frequently in the future (R. 1910). Mr. Smith testified that there was no suggestion that he take notes or otherwise record his talks with Mr. Johnson (R. 1910). Mr. Smith was then returned to the jail and incarcerated.

Mr. Smith was placed in a single cell beside Mr. Johnson (R. 1913). While next door, Mr. Smith had extensive talks with Mr. Johnson. Mr. Smith wrote extensive handwritten notes that he testified reflected the statements that Mr. Johnson made to him (R. 1914). Subsequently, Mr. Smith met with Wilkerson and gave him the handwritten notes (R. 1915). Mr. Smith also gave a recorded statement.

Wilkerson also testified at the suppression hearing. He said his first conversation with Mr. Smith about Mr. Johnson occurred on February 5, 1981. Wilkerson testified that he had not previously told Mr. Smith to try to talk to Mr. Johnson. Wilkerson testified that he did not "give Smith any instructions on what to do in the future as far as going back and talking to Johnson again and getting more information" (R. 1927).

The State also produced Robert Wallace and George Elliott, investigators with the Polk County Sheriff's Department. They both testified that no one with law enforcement gave Mr. Smith any direction to have any contact with Mr. Johnson (R. 1931,

1932-33).

At Mr. Johnson's first trial in September, 1981, prosecutor Pickard argued that "Mr. Smith on his own, without talking with anybody from a police agency or the State or anyone else," decided to talk with Mr. Johnson and report the content of those conversations to law enforcement (R. 1942). Pickard said, "once they were aware that statements had been made to Mr. Smith they [police] made no request of him, did not tell him to go back and get more information" (R. 1943). Pickard concluded, "The issue is whether the police had anything to do with what Smith was doing. And they did not according to all the testimony from all the police officers and Mr. Smith, Smith did it on his own initiative" (R. 1946).

The presiding judge denied the motion to suppress. He concluded that when Mr. Smith took notes, he was "passively receiving those things. Finally, **Mr. Smith himself testified that he was doing it all on his own**" (R. 1948)(emphasis added). According to the judge, "the officers did not directly or surreptitiously or in any fashion direct Mr. Smith to do what he did" (R. 1949). The judge concluded that Mr. Smith was not a state agent.

During Mr. Johnson's first trial in September, 1981, the

defense presented an insanity defense. The State relied upon Mr. Smith's testimony regarding statements allegedly made by Mr. Johnson to refute the insanity defense. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts. The trial court sentenced Mr. Johnson to death.

On direct appeal, Mr. Johnson challenged the denial of the motion to suppress. In affirming, this Court found that Mr. Smith had **"testified that he decided to take notes, solely on his own**, because he had trouble remembering things." Johnson v. State, 438 So. 2d 774, 776 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1051 (1984)(emphasis added). This Court observed that the trial court had found that **"the detectives did not direct Smith, either directly or surreptitiously, to talk with Johnson or to take notes** on their conversations." Id. (emphasis added). This Court concluded, "We agree with the trial court that **this case presents a close question on whether Smith had become an agent of the state**, but we find the ruling that he had not to be supported by the evidence." Id. (emphasis added).

Mr. Johnson petitioned this Court for habeas relief when his death warrant was signed in 1986. Finding the habeas petition meritorious, this Court granted Mr. Johnson a new trial because the jury had been allowed to separate after it began

deliberations. Johnson v. Wainwright, 498 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 1986).

The case returned to circuit court for a retrial. In the intervening years, a new state attorney had been elected. Because of his defense work, a conflict required the Polk County State Attorney's Office to disqualify itself from this case (2PC-R. 1934, 2017). The Governor reassigned the case to the Hillsborough County State Attorney's Office (2PC-R. 2013). Lee Atkinson was assigned by Hillsborough County State Attorney to prosecute the case.

The second trial began in October 1987 in Polk County. Because of juror misconduct, a mistrial was declared. Afterward, the presiding judge granted the defense's motion to disqualify him and granted the defense motion for a venue change. Venue was moved to Alachua County, and this Court appointed a retired Eighth Judicial Circuit judge, Judge Carlisle, to preside (2PC-R. 176).

The third trial was held in Alachua County in April 1988; the prosecution of the case was handled by Mr. Atkinson with the Hillsborough County State Attorney's Office. Mr. Johnson was represented by the Polk County Public Defender's Office. Specifically assigned to represent Mr. Johnson were Larry

Shearer and Robert Norgard.

Mr. Johnson renewed his motion to suppress regarding the statements collected by Mr. Smith. The trial court again denied it finding that no evidence that law enforcement in any way encouraged Smith to speak with Mr. Johnson or take notes.

At his third trial, Mr. Johnson again presented an insanity defense based upon his long term addiction to crystal methamphetamine and his use of the drug on the day of the crimes (2PC-R. 1933). Expert testimony was presented that Mr. Johnson suffered from drug-induced psychosis at the time the offenses were committed (2PC-R. 1937).

In rebuttal, the State presented Mr. Smith's testimony that Mr. Johnson had said that "he could play like he was crazy and they would send him to the crazyhouse for a few years and that would be it" (R2. 2097)

The jury returned a guilty verdict on all counts. (R. 3350-3351). The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of eight to four on Count I, nine to three on Count II, and nine to three on Count III. (R. 3616). The trial court imposed death sentences on Count I, II, and III. As to the other counts, the court sentenced Mr. Johnson to life for Count IV (Robbery), 15 years for Count V (kidnapping), 15 years for Count VI (arson),

life for Count VII (robbery), 30 years for Count VIII (first degree attempted murder) and 30 years for Count IX (first degree attempted murder). On appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions and sentences. State v. Johnson, 608 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1992). With regard to Mr. Smith's testimony, this Court found that Mr. Johnson had not overcome the presumption that the trial court's factual determinations were correct. Johnson v. State, 608 So. 2d 4, 9 (Fla. 1992).

On August 1, 1994, Mr. Johnson timely filed a Rule 3.850 motion. Venue was returned to Polk County. Mr. Johnson amended his post-conviction motion on May 17, 1995. According to the State, the trial prosecutor's files could not be located and were not available to Mr. Johnson's collateral counsel as public records. Six days before the scheduled Huff hearing, and 59 days before the scheduled evidentiary hearing, the State announced that the trial prosecutor's files had been located and access was provided to Mr. Johnson's collateral counsel. A continuance to review and investigate any possible issues from those files was denied. The evidentiary hearing proceeded as scheduled in March 1997.

One of the issues Mr. Johnson raised was whether the State had withheld Brady material from Mr. Johnson and his counsel.



This claim largely concerned the informant, Mr. Smith, who was called as a witness at the 1997 evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 261). Mr. Smith testified about his previous statements and the testimony he gave at Mr. Johnson's trial. Mr. Smith admitted that his trial testimony had been false. Mr. Smith had understood that he would get consideration for testifying for the State at Mr. Johnson's trial.

In 1997, Mr. Smith specifically emphasized that he was sent into the jail to try to question Mr. Johnson and obtain statements and admissions that could be used against him. Mr. Smith testified that he had been coached about what areas of questioning that he needed to cover with Mr. Johnson. He was asking questions of Mr. Johnson on behalf of Inv. Wilkerson:

On a periodic basis I would see Mr. Wilkerson. He would come and call me down under the pretense of seeing a lawyer, and we would go into a little room on the first floor in the sheriff's department area and he would talk to me in there. And then I would go back up to the cell and ask questions that he would ask me to ask.

(PC-R. 261-262).

In 1997, Mr. Smith testified that he fabricated statements

that he attributed to Mr. Johnson in order to get out of the seven-year sentence he had hanging over his head. Mr. Smith made up answers to the questions he was told to ask Mr. Johnson to appease Investigator Wilkerson.

In 1997, Mr. Smith was specifically asked if Mr. Johnson told him "I will just act crazy to beat the charges" to which Smith answered "NO" (PC-R. 262). Thus, Mr. Smith had fabricated the testimony that Mr. Johnson would act crazy in order to get off. Mr. Smith also testified that Mr. Johnson did not make incriminating statements about the offenses:

. . . Paul had some legal papers, a big stack of them, and between what Mr. Wilkerson would instruct me to ask and the legal papers is how most of the answers was determined.

(PC-R. 262).

Mr. Smith said his testimony about police never instructing him to get details from Mr. Johnson was not true - "They instructed me that I wasn't to say that they asked me to say anything." (PC-R. 263).

In 1997, Mr. Smith testified that the police told him if he got helpful statements from Mr. Johnson, they would help him on his own criminal charges:

They was going to, supposedly, I thought, help me in Court with the custody of my three kids, and at a later time when I went to court they was going to speak on my behalf to - to the sentencing judge and see if there could be a reduction in my sentence.

(PC-R. 263-264). Mr. Smith identified a letter he wrote to the state attorney on September 18, 1981 (received into evidence as Def. Ex. 11) and explained: "This letter was basically to see if Mr. Pickard was going to hold up his part of the deal." (PC-R. 264). Mr. Smith also identified another letter (received into evidence as Def. Ex. 12) he wrote to Hardy Pickard "to see where he was standing and if he was, in fact, going to go before the judge on my behalf" (PC-R. 265). Mr. Smith then identified another letter (received into evidence as Def. Ex. 15) that he had written to his sentencing judge (PC-R. 265-266). Mr. Smith explained that the purpose of his letters to the state attorney was to see if the state attorney was going to speak to the judge on his behalf in exchange for his testimony against Mr. Johnson (PC-R. 266). Mr. Smith identified hand written notes (received into evidence as Def. Ex. 6) he wrote while he was in the cell next to Mr. Johnson. Mr. Smith testified:

Like I stated previously, Mr. Wilkerson would tell me what to ask. And in between Mr. Wilkerson and the papers, we just wrote it down, **Mr. Wilkerson told me to write it down because I couldn't remember everything that he was telling me to ask Mr. Johnson. So he come up with the idea that I needed to start writing and keeping notes.**

(PC-R. 267)(emphasis added). In 1997, Mr. Smith explained to the court what he did with Mr. Johnson's legal papers:

I read them. Paul said he couldn't read real well. And we read them for -- it took a while to read them to him. We was pretty close, side-by-side, just a little steel wall separating us.

(PC-R. 269). Reminded of his previous trial testimony against Mr. Johnson, Smith was asked "what is the truth?" Mr. Smith responded "I'm telling the truth now." He then testified:

The truth is exactly what I'm saying today. I was under extreme pressure from the detective that was speaking with me. And I was instructed very well not to say anything, that they was instructing me about what to say because the case would crumble. But today I'm telling the truth.

(PC-R. 269). Mr. Smith testified that he worked for Wilkerson in the past on arson cases wearing body wires (PC-R. 270). Mr. Smith identified a *Motion for Mitigation of Sentence* (received into evidence as Def. Ex. 14) dated October 6, 1981 that said he was trying to get his sentence mitigated, that he also filed appeals. Mr. Smith testified that Mr. Pickard had told him to file the motion to reduce his sentence and that Mr. Pickard would help him out. Mr. Smith testified that the *Motion to Mitigate Sentence* was denied (denial order received into

evidence as Def. Ex. 15) and that he went back into court.

Mr. Smith identified Def. Ex. 16, *Order Resetting Hearing* dated November 16, 1981 and Def. Ex. 17 *Order Suspending Sentence* and explained:

I think I filed an appeal first and then I spoke with Mr. Pickard, and he said that -- anyway, one come before the other one and I had it wrong. And then when one was denied and the other one was denied, that's when I got hold of Mr. Pickard and told him that -- actually, I thought he was going to do something and he hadn't, and then I guess he took over from there.

[Q]. And what was your understanding that the State was going to do for you in exchange for your testimony against Mr. Johnson?

[A]. I would go back to court and try to get my sentence reduced.

(PC-R. 274-275).

Regarding Mr. Johnson's retrial in 1988, Mr. Smith testified in 1997 that "I didn't want nothing else to do with the trial" (PC-R. 275). He identified a letter (entered into evidence as Def. Ex. 18) dated July 7, 1987 that he wrote when he learned that he would again be needed to testify:

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