IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL BEASLEY JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

---

CASE NO. SC08-1213

Polk Case No. CF81-0112 A1XX

Alachua Case No. 88-448 CF-A

Death Penalty Case

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,  
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA  
Chief Assistant Attorney General  
Capital Appeals Bureau Chief  
Florida Bar No. 0445071  
Concourse Center 4  
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200  
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013  
Telephone: (813) 287-7910  
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

**

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Johnson's claim that the information contained in state attorney notes admittedly in Johnson's possession since the public records litigation in the initial postconviction proceeding in 1996-97 qualifies as newly discovered evidence was properly rejected by the court as barred and for failing to satisfy either prong of the newly discovered evidence standard. Finding that the evidence presented at trial by the state that the defendant was guilty of the crimes he was charged with "was extensive and nothing contained in the notes is of such a character separately or cumulatively that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial," the lower court had competent substantial evidence to support its' denial of relief.

The trial court also properly summarily denied the challenge to the lethal injection protocols as this Court has repeatedly denied similar challenges.

The court also properly summarily denied Johnson's claim that the ABA report constituted newly discovered as this claim has also been consistently rejected by this Court as procedurally barred and without merit.



ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED JOHNSON'S CLAIM OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE, *BRADY V. MARYLAND*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), AND *GIGLIO V. UNITED STATES*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).

In his second successive motion for postconviction relief, Johnson is once again urging this Court to vacate his conviction and sentence of death based on a claim that the state violated *Brady* or *Giglio*.<sup>1</sup> Johnson now claims that "newly discovered evidence" in the form of handwritten notes, admittedly in his possession for ten years, supports his previously made claim that jailhouse informant James Smith was acting as a state agent in speaking to Johnson during his incarceration.<sup>2</sup> In addition,

---

<sup>1</sup> *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).

<sup>2</sup> The circumstances surrounding the public records litigation resulting in the production of the state attorney files were thoroughly addressed by this Court in the initial post conviction appeal. This Court stated in pertinent part:

Here, there has been no showing that the state attorney's files were intentionally concealed. Furthermore, the record reflects that the Attorney General's office had procedures for reviewing its files in October 1995 and that its records were made available during the public records hearings held in July 1996. Notwithstanding Johnson's delay in examining the files, the circuit court permitted Johnson to raise any new claims discovered in these records as late as February 8, 1997, and to use any evidence discovered in support of his rule 3.850 claims at the March 3, 1997, evidentiary hearing.

he now adds that the notes contain evidence that Amy Reid could support Johnson's claim that he was going to Lakeland to buy meth when he committed the murders. An evidentiary hearing was held on the newly discovered evidence claim. At the conclusion, the lower court found this claim to be both procedurally barred for failure to raise in the prior postconviction proceedings and that it did not qualify as newly discovered evidence. Specifically, the court stated:

The notes from the State Attorney's Office that form the basis of this Claim were not known to the defense at the time of the trial and could not have been discovered at that time through due diligence. However, to describe them as newly discovered evidence seems inappropriate given the fact that various counsel for the Defendant have had these notes since January 1997. The defense alleges that they constitute newly discovered evidence because they were not in a position to understand what the notes represented until defense counsel talked with attorney Martin McClain regarding the practice of Assistant State Attorney Hardy Pickard to use John Doe state attorney subpoenas to interview witnesses without the knowledge of defense counsel and to take some notes during the interviews. In an abundance of caution after consideration of recent case law, including Cherry v. State, 959 So.2d 702 (Fla. 2007), the Court thought it prudent to allow the Defendant to have an evidentiary hearing on his claim of newly discovered evidence involving the state attorney notes.

---

Accordingly, we find no abuse of discretion in the circuit court's refusal to allow Johnson additional time to review the records.

*Johnson v. State*, 769 So. 2d 990, 995 (Fla. 2000)

The defense has not convinced the Court that it could not have raised the claim based on the state attorney notes in one of the Defendant's prior Motion's to Vacate. The defense has been in possession of the State Attorney notes since January 1997. The defense claims that it did not know if the notes were from trial testimony or a deposition, but there were some dates on the notes that could have easily been compared to trial and deposition dates. The initials HOP were on some of the pages of the notes. This is a strong indication that Assistant State Attorney Hardy Pickard may have authored the notes, yet the defense did not ask him questions about the notes when he was questioned at the evidentiary hearing held with regard to Mr. Johnson's first Motion To Vacate. When a claim is raised in a successive motion a Defendant has the additional burden of demonstrating why the claim was not raised before. See Reichman v. State, 966 So.2d 298 (Fla. 2007). If there is no reason for failing to raise the issues in the previous motion a motion for postconviction relief can be denied on the ground that is it an abuse of process. See Pope v. State, 702 So.2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997).

In Owen v. Crosby, 854 So.2d 182 (Fla. 2003), the Florida Supreme Court opined;

Although claims that could have been raised in a prior postconviction motion are procedurally barred, this Court has held that a defendant may file successive postconviction relief motions that are based on newly discovered evidence. See White v. State, 664 So.2d 242, 244 (Fla. 1995). In order to overcome a procedural bar, a defendant must show that the newly discovered facts could not have been discovered with due diligence by collateral counsel and raised in an initial rule 3.850 motion.

The Court finds that a claim based on the state attorney notes could have and should have raised by collateral counsel through the exercise of due diligence in the initial Motion To Vacate or in the

Defendant's Second Motion To Vacate, and Claim 1 of Defendant's Motion is procedurally barred.

Even if Claim I of Defendant's Motion was not procedurally barred, the Court finds that Claim I of the Defendant's Motion should be denied with regard to a claim of newly discovered evidence. Regardless, of whether the notes that make up this claim qualify as newly discovered evidence, the evidence contained in the notes certainly does not meet the requirement in Jones, that it is of such a character that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. The defense alleges that the testimony of James Smith and Amy Reid could have been impeached with information contained in the notes. The notes are not verbatim witness statements and were not adopted by the witnesses.

(2SPC-R 14/2253-55) (emphasis added)

Finding that the evidence presented at trial by the state that the defendant was guilty of the crimes he was charged with "was extensive and nothing contained in the notes is of such a character separately or cumulatively that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial," the lower court reaffirmed the circuit court's denial of relief after the prior postconviction consideration of the recantation testimony from James Smith.

(2SPC-R 14/2256) See *Johnson v. State*, 769 So. 2d 990, 999

(Fla. 2000):

Even if the court were to accept Mr. Smith's testimony as being true, the court is confident that the verdict would not have been different. Evidence of the defendant's guilt was overwhelming. At trial, the state presented eyewitness testimony, circumstantial evidence and evidence of the defendant's conduct which indicated the defendant committed the crimes and that he was not insane at the time of the offenses.

The court also concluded that there was no support for allegations establishing either a *Brady* or *Giglio* violation. (2SPC-R 14/2260) As the following will show, the lower court properly denied relief.

The standard of review applied by an appellate court when reviewing a trial court's ruling on a rule 3.850 motion to vacate following an evidentiary hearing is: "As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, 'this Court will not "substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court.'" *Blanco v. State*, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997), quoting *Demps v. State*, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984), quoting *Goldfarb v. Robertson*, 82 So. 2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1955). However, the circuit court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. *Lowe v. State*, 2 So. 3d 21 (Fla. 2008), citing, *Sochor v. State*, 883 So. 2d 766, 771-72 (Fla. 2004).

As previously noted, the lower court first denied this claim relying on this Court's decision in *Owen v. Crosby*, 854 So. 2d 182, 187-188 (Fla. 2003), because it was an issue that could have been raised during the initial postconviction proceeding. (2SPC-R 14/2254-55). **It is uncontroverted that the**

notes in question were in the possession of collateral counsel at the time of the initial postconviction hearing and that, despite being given repeated opportunities to raise any claims concerning those documents, no such issue was raised until ten years later.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> This Court previously held that the lower court allowed Johnson sufficient time to amend the pleadings based on any evidence discovered in the state attorney files both before and during the evidentiary hearing. Quoting the trial court's order, this Court set forth the relevant facts and found no abuse of discretion,

Although CCR's delay in examining the records at the attorney general's office was inexcusable, this court permitted CCR to amend the rule 3.850 motion based upon the newly discovered information. CCR filed an amended motion on January 28, 1997. The amended motion did not raise any new claims for relief, but made references to the materials recently discovered. This court accepted the amended motion and allowed CCR to utilize the new material to support any of the claims for relief. An evidentiary hearing was held on March 3, 4 and 5, 1997.

*State v. Johnson* order at 3-4. The circuit court concluded that the public records issue had been litigated fully and denied further relief.

Johnson cites to *Ventura v. State*, 673 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 1996), for the proposition that the circuit court should have allowed Johnson sixty days to review the newly discovered records. In *Ventura*, however, the State had affirmatively withheld the records being sought. *Id.* at 481. Here, there has been no showing that the state attorney's files were intentionally concealed. Furthermore, the record reflects that the Attorney General's office had procedures for reviewing its files in October 1995 and that its records were made available during the public records hearings held in July 1996. Notwithstanding Johnson's delay in

In *Owen*, this Court held that, "[a]lthough claims that could have been raised in a prior postconviction motion are procedurally barred, this Court has held that a defendant may file successive postconviction relief motions that are based on newly discovered evidence." *Owen v. Crosby*, 854 So. 2d at 188. In order to satisfy his burden to establish that this claim is newly discovered, Johnson must show it was "unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence." *Jones v. State*, 591 So. 2d 911, 916 (Fla. 1991). Second, "the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." *Id.* at 915.

Furthermore, even if Johnson could establish that this evidence qualified as "newly discovered," the procedural bar would still apply because it was not presented within one year of discovery. *Jimenez v. State*, 2008 Fla. LEXIS 2390, 9-10 (Fla. June 19, 2008) (finding subclaim is procedurally barred

---

examining the files, the circuit court permitted Johnson to raise any new claims discovered in these records as late as February 8, 1997, and to use any evidence discovered in support of his rule 3.850 claims at the March 3, 1997, evidentiary hearing. Accordingly, we find no abuse of discretion in the circuit court's refusal to allow Johnson additional time to review the records.

*Johnson v. State*, 769 So. 2d 990, 995 (Fla. 2000)

where record established that Jimenez was aware of this information more than one year prior to filing of the successive rule 3.851 motion.) Finally, Johnson asserts that this evidence establishes that the state committed a *Brady/Giglio* violation. This Court has held that in order to establish a *Brady* claim, a defendant must show the state willfully or inadvertently suppressed material, favorable evidence and that there is a reasonable probability that had the suppressed evidence been disclosed, the jury would have reached a different verdict. *Byrd v. State*, 2009 Fla. LEXIS 494 (Fla. Apr. 2, 2009). In *Byrd*, this Court also explained that a "*Giglio* violation is demonstrated when the prosecutor knowingly presented or failed to correct false testimony that was material to the case." This Court explained that evidence is material if there is any reasonable likelihood that it could have affected the jury's verdict. *Id.*

In the instant case, the lower court found that the claim was procedurally barred for having failed to raise it in the prior postconviction proceeding and that "a claim based on the state attorney notes could have and should have [been] raised by collateral counsel through the exercise of due diligence." (2SPC-R 14/2255). Although the lower court did not repeat its factual findings with regard to the due diligence prong, the



court made extensive findings concerning the facts which established that collateral counsel was in possession of these documents since the initial postconviction hearing which refutes any contention that this evidence is "newly discovered."

Johnson's convoluted argument in defense of his failure to timely raise the claim is essentially that since none of the prosecutors who looked at the notes believed them to be *Brady* material, then defense counsel's failure to perceive the handwritten notes as significant when they were disclosed as part of a "large" (two boxes) public records disclosure was not unreasonable. Johnson bases this novel defense on a twisted reading of the holding in *Banks v. Dretke*, 540 U.S. 668 (2004) where, the Court warned that a rule "declaring 'prosecutor may hide, defendant must seek,' is not tenable in a system constitutionally bound to accord defendants due process." *Id.* at 696. That statement was made in response to the state's contention that the "'prosecution can lie and conceal and the prisoner still has the burden to . . . discover the evidence.'" *Id.* *Jennings v. McDonough*, 490 F.3d 1230, 1239 (11th Cir. 2007). Contrary to defendant's contention, *Banks* does not expand the state's obligation under *Brady* to "point the defense to specific documents within a larger mass of material that it has already turned over." *United States v. Pelullo*, 399 F.3d

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